### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

# PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

# RODRIGO MARTINEZ MARTINEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

S199495

Ct. Ap. No. H036687 Santa Clara County Super. Ct. No. 156569

# APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS COURT

JUN **1 1** 2012

Frederick K. Ohirich Clerk

Deputy

SARA E. COPPIN (State Bar. No. 245952) By appointment of the Supreme Court 11075 Treehenge Lane Auburn, CA 95602 (530) 401-6891 (phone) Counsel for Appellant



## **

#### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In the context of a motion to vacate pursuant to Penal Code section 1016.5, should courts assessing whether a defendant was prejudiced by the lack of immigration advisements be required to consider, in addition to the defendant's prospects at trial, evidence that, had the defendant been properly warned, he or she could have obtained an immigration-neutral disposition, or that he or she would have preferred to risk the outcome of a trial over a certainty of deportation?

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In the context of a Penal Code section 1016.5 motion to vacate based on the trial court's failure to deliver warnings about immigration consequences of a plea, this Court has previously held that "the sentencing court must determine whether the error prejudiced the defendant, i.e., whether it is 'reasonably probable' the defendant would not have pleaded

guilty if properly advised." *People v. Superior Court (Zamudio)* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 183, 210. Following that decision, the Court of Appeal for the Second District held that to show prejudice, a defendant was not required to demonstrate a probability of a favorable outcome at trial, but that a likelihood of success at trial may be one factor to consider in assessing whether a defendant would have rejected a plea offer. (*People v. Castro-Vasquez* (2007) 148 Cal.App.4th 1240.)

In *Padilla v. Kentucky* (2010) \_\_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_\_, 130 S.Ct. 1473 (*Padilla*), the United States Supreme Court recognized that "[p]reserving a client's right to remain in the United States may be more important to the client than any potential jail sentence," and that "informed consideration of possible deportation can only benefit both the State and non-citizen defendants during the plea-bargaining process." (*Id.* at p. 1483, 1486.) The Court established a standard for assessing prejudice in cases where a defendant pleads guilty without having been advised about the immigration consequences of his plea which asks whether "a decision to reject the plea bargain would have been rational under the circumstances." (*Id.* at p. 1485.)

The High Court's position is very much in accord with the California Legislature's intent in enacting Penal Code section 1016.5, which was to "promote fairness" for non-citizen defendants. (Penal Code § 1016.5, subd. (d).) Accordingly, the Legislature included a requirement that such

defendants be given "a reasonable amount of time to negotiate with the prosecuting agency in the event the defendant or the defendant's counsel was unaware" of the immigration consequences of a plea. (*Ibid.*)

Because plea negotiations that take immigration consequences into account are favored by both the Legislature and the U.S. Supreme Court, California courts should focus not on the likelihood of success at trial when assessing prejudice in the context of section 1016.5 motion, but rather on whether rejecting the plea offer would have been rational under the defendant's circumstances as whole. Such circumstances will necessarily include the likelihood of negotiating an immigration-neutral disposition, the impact of immigration consequences on a non-citizen defendant's risk assessment of proceeding with trial, and the strength of any possible defenses versus the strength of the prosecution's case.

Appellant respectfully urges the Court to adopt the clear standard for assessing prejudice set forth in *Padilla* in order to provide guidance and secure uniformity among the lower courts. The decisions below failed to conduct the proper inquiry into whether it was reasonably probable that appellant would have rejected the plea offer if properly advised. Because they focus exclusively on the likelihood of success at trial, and fail to give due consideration to other factors which would have influenced appellant's decision whether to plead guilty, the decisions below are in conflict with *People v. Castro-Vasquez, supra*, 148 Cal.App.4th 1240, and the

Legislative intent behind 1016.5. Therefore, the decisions below must reversed.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 28, 1992, appellant, Rodrigo Martinez-Martinez, pled guilty to a violation of Health and Safety Code section 11360, subdivision (a), transportation of marijuana. Appellant was neither counseled by his attorney, nor advised by the court at the change of plea hearing, that there was the possibility of adverse immigration consequences as a result of his plea. (1 CT 28, 44-45.) On the court's minute order, a box to be checked if a defendant was properly warned by the Court of the immigration consequences of his plea, is unchecked. (1 CT 28.)

On January 21, 2011, appellant, through counsel, filed a motion to vacate his 1992 conviction pursuant to Penal Code section 1016.5. (1 CT 38.) On February 17, 2011, the Honorable Marc Poché of the Superior Court of Santa Clara County issued a written order denying the motion. (1 CT 91-92.) The court held that appellant was entitled to a rebuttable presumption that he had not been properly advised by the trial court regarding the possibility of immigration consequences prior to his plea. (1 CT 91.) The court further held that appellant had established that his 1992 conviction does indeed have immigration consequences for him. (*Id.*) However, the court found it "highly improbable" that appellant would have been able to negotiate a plea that would not have had adverse immigration

consequences. (1 CT 92.) Second, the court held that it was "unlikely" that appellant would have been found not guilty by a jury, had he elected to exercise his trial rights rather than plead guilty. (*Id.*) Based on these two findings, the court held that appellant had not established that the trial court's failure to warn him about the immigration consequences of his plea had prejudiced him in any way, and denied the motion to vacate. (*Id.*)

On March 10, 2011 appellant filed a notice of appeal and a certificate of probable cause was issued on March 11, 2011. (1 CT 95-96.) On December 9, 2011 the Court of Appeal, Sixth District, quoting the decision of the Superior Court at length, affirmed. (Typed Opn., pp. 3-4.) The Court of Appeal's own analysis of the prejudice issue consisted of the following paragraph:

We agree with the trial court that the appellant's claim that he would have plead [sic] to a "greater offense," sale of unspecified controlled substance under Health and Safety Code section 11352, subdivision (a) is entirely speculative and it beggars the imagination to suppose that he would have agreed to go to state prison for a term of three, four or five years had he known of the immigration consequences. The distinct problem with appellant's appeal is his inability to demonstrate prejudice. He says only that had he been aware of the immigration consequences of his plea, he would not have entered it and instead gone to jury trial. The jury trial would not have taken long. The observation of a hand to hand sale together with the money and the purchaser would not have offered any difficulty to a jury.

(Typed. Opn., p. 3.)

On January 19, 2012, appellant filed a petition for review of the decision of the Court of Appeal. This Court granted review on March 21, 2012.

#### SUMMARY OF THE PERTINENT FACTS

Appellant is a native and citizen of Mexico who has lived continuously in the United States since 1991 (1 CT 44.) He is married to Maria Escobedo, a lawful permanent resident of the United States, and has four United States citizen children, ages 13, 12, 10, and 5 years old. (*Id.*)

The following facts are taken from the preliminary hearing held on June 5, 1992. (1 CT 1 et seq.) On or about May 15, 1992, an undercover officer observed appellant exchanging a brown bindle for money with an individual identified as Mr. Ryan. (1 CT 7.) Ryan was subsequently detained and found to be in possession of a brown bindle containing a useable amount of marijuana. (1 CT 8-9.) About an hour later, the officer saw appellant riding on his bicycle and arrested him. (1 CT 9, 10.)

Appellant did not have any money or drugs in his possession when he was arrested. (1 CT 10-11.) The trial court found sufficient cause to hold appellant to answer on the charge of transportation or sale of marijuana in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11360, subdivision (a), and appellant subsequently pled guilty as charged. (1 CT 17, 21-22, 28.)

On May 15, 2008, having long ago successfully completed the terms of his probation, Mr. Martinez applied for and was granted a record

clearance pursuant to Penal Code section 1203.4 by the Superior Court of Santa Clara County. (1 CT 37.) In 2008. Mr. Martinez applied for lawful permanent resident status with United States Citizenship and Immigration Services ("USCIS"), using a family-based visa petition filed by his wife's father. (1 CT 44.) However, his application for lawful permanent resident status was denied, and removal proceedings were initiated against him on October 27, 2009. (*Id.*; see also 1 CT 81.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. IN THE CONTEXT OF MOTIONS TO VACATE PURSUANT TO PENAL CODE SECTION 1016.5, THIS COURT SHOULD ADOPT THE PREJUDICE TEST SET FORTH IN THE U.S. SUPREME COURT'S DECISION IN PADILLA V. KENTUCKY WHICH WEIGHS WHETHER IT WOULD HAVE BEEN RATIONAL UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES FOR THE DEFENDANT TO REJECT THE PLEA OFFER HAD HE BEEN PROPERLY WARNED.
  - A. Legislative History and Statutory Requirements of Penal Code section 1016.5

In 1977, the Legislature recognized that "in many instances involving an individual who is not a citizen of the United States charged with an offense punishable as a crime under state law, a plea of guilty or nolo contendere is entered without the defendant knowing that a conviction of such offense is grounds for deportation, exclusion from admission to the United States, or denial of naturalization pursuant to the laws of the United States." (Pen. Code § 1016.5 subd. (d) (West, 1977).) In enacting section 1016.5, the Legislature demonstrated concern that "those who plead guilty

or no contest to criminal charges are aware of the immigration consequences of their pleas." (People v. Kim (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1078, 1107.) Accordingly, with the express intent to "promote fairness to such accused individuals," the Legislature enacted Penal Code section 1016.5, which requires that acceptance of a guilty plea or plea of nolo contendere be preceded by a warning that the plea could have the consequences of "deportation, exclusion from admission to the United States, or denial of naturalization pursuant to the laws of the United States." (Pen. Code § 1016.5, subd. (d), (a).) Additionally, the Legislature directed courts to "grant the defendant a reasonable amount of time to negotiate with the prosecuting agency in the event the defendant or the defendant's counsel was unaware of the possibility of deportation, exclusion from admission to the United States, or denial of naturalization as a result of conviction." (Pen. Code § 1016.5 subd. (d).)

Penal Code section 1016.5 further creates a remedy for defendants who were not so advised, by requiring vacatur where the defendant can show that the conviction may have one or more of the enumerated consequences. (Pen. Code § 1016.5, subd. (b).)

To prevail on a motion to vacate under section 1016.5, a defendant must establish that (1) he or she was not properly advised of the immigration consequences as provided by the statute; (2) there exists, at the time of the motion, more than a remote possibility that the conviction will have one or more of the specified adverse immigration consequences; and (3) he or she was prejudiced by the nonadvisement.

(People v. Totari (2002) 28 Cal.4th 876, 884.)

Appellant urges the Court to adopt the same standard for assessing prejudice in the context of section 1016.5 motions that the U.S. Supreme Court employed in Padilla v. Kentucky, supra, 130 S.Ct. 1473. Padilla involved a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, in which the attorney erred by failing to advise a defendant about immigration consequences that would be triggered by accepting a plea. (Padilla v. Kentucky, supra, 130 S.Ct. at p. 1485.) This Court recognized a similar duty of counsel in *In re* Resendiz (2001) 25 Cal.4th 230, abrogated by Padilla v. Kentucky, supra, 130 S. Ct. 1473. Although, in California, ineffective assistance of counsel claims are brought via petitions for writ of habeas corpus as opposed to statutory motions to vacate, California courts have recognized that the prejudice inquiries for ineffective assistance of counsel claims and section 1016.5 motions are the same. (See People v. Castro-Vasquez, supra, 148 Cal.App.4th at p. 1245-1246, citing In re Resendiz, supra, 25 Cal.4th 230, an ineffective assistance of counsel case, for the purposes of analyzing prejudice in the context of a Penal Code section 1016.5 motion.) Therefore, a discussion of prejudice standards from cases involving ineffective assistance of counsel claims is apposite.

//

//

# B. The History of the Relevant Legal Standards for Assessing Prejudice in U.S. Supreme Court and California Jurisprudence.

The evolution of the methodology for assessing prejudice in ineffective assistance of counsel claims begins with the two U.S. Supreme Court decisions, *Strickland v. Washington* (1984) 466 U.S. 668 (*Strickland*) and *Hill v. Lockhart* (1985) 474 U.S. 52 (*Hill*). In *Strickland*, the Court discussed the prejudice analysis in a situation where attorney errors had occurred in the sentencing phase of a capital murder trial. (*Strickland*, *supra*, 466 U.S. at p. 695.) In that case, the Court considered and rejected the prejudice test used for motions for a new trial based on newly discovered evidence, which requires defendants to prove it is more likely than not that the new evidence would have altered the outcome of the case. The Court concluded that such an "outcome-determinative standard" would not be appropriate as a prejudice test in ineffective assistance of counsel claims. (*Id.* at p. 693.) As the Court explained:

Even when the specified attorney error results in the omission of certain evidence, the newly discovered evidence standard is not an apt source from which to draw a prejudice standard for ineffectiveness claims. The high standard for newly discovered evidence claims presupposes that all the essential elements of a presumptively accurate and fair proceeding were present in the proceeding whose result is challenged. An ineffective assistance claim asserts the absence of one of the crucial assurances that the result of the proceeding is reliable, so finality concerns are somewhat weaker and the appropriate standard of prejudice should be somewhat lower. The result of a proceeding can be rendered unreliable, and hence the proceeding itself unfair, even if the errors of counsel cannot

be shown by a preponderance of the evidence to have determined the outcome.

(*Id.* at p. 694, internal citations omitted.) Therefore, the Court held that in cases where attorney error rises to the level of ineffectiveness, "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." (*Ibid.*) A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. (*Ibid.*)

A year later, in *Hill*, the Court considered the test for prejudice where the attorney error impacted the plea-bargaining process specifically. (*Hill v. Lockhart, supra*, 474 U.S. at p. 58.) The Court stated that the test in such circumstances should "focus on whether counsel's constitutionally ineffective performance affected the outcome of the plea process." (*Id.* at p. 59.) In *Hill*, the Court did two things that were significant to the assessment of prejudice. First, the Court again used the lower "reasonable probability" standard as opposed to the higher "more likely than not" standard. (*Ibid.*) Second, the Court acknowledged that because the attorney's error took place during the plea bargaining stage, the appropriate question was not whether the outcome of a trial was affected by the ineffectiveness, but rather whether the defendant's decision to plead guilty was affected: "[T]o satisfy the 'prejudice' requirement, the defendant must show that there is a

reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." (*Ibid.*)

Then, in 2010 the U.S. Supreme Court addressed how courts should determine prejudice specifically in the context of a guilty plea entered into without competent advice about immigration consequences. (*Padilla*, *supra*, 130 S.Ct. at p. 1485.) Adopting a similar standard to that of *Strickland* and *Hill*, *Padilla* makes clear that the prejudice inquiry should be whether a rational person would have rejected a particular plea, not whether a hypothetical trial outcome would have led to a better result than the plea. (*Ibid.*) "To obtain relief on this type of claim, a petitioner must convince the court that a decision to reject the plea bargain would have been rational under the circumstances." (*Ibid.*)

The *Padilla* court did not alter the burden of proof for defendants bringing ineffectiveness claims by framing the question in terms of whether it would have been "rational under the circumstances" to reject a plea offer. (*Padilla, supra*, 130 S.Ct. at p. 1485.) In endorsing a rationalness inquiry, the Court cited its decision in *Roe v. Flores-Ortega* (2000) 528 U.S. 470, 480, which employs the same reasonable probability standard used in *Hill*. (See *Padilla, supra*, 130 S.Ct. at p. 1485.) However, by directing courts to inquire into whether a defendant's decision to reject a plea would have been "rational under the circumstances," the *Padilla* Court makes clear that all of the factors which go into a defendant's decision to plead guilty – rather than

simply a likelihood of success at trial – are relevant in assessing whether it is reasonably probable he would not have pled guilty of properly advised.

Even more recently, the U.S. Supreme Court addressed the prejudice prong of *Strickland*, and expressly rejected a success-at-trial approach to assessing prejudice. (See Missouri v. Frye (2012) U.S., 132 S. Ct. 1399.) In that case, defense counsel failed to communicate formal plea offers to the defendant, the offers lapsed, and defendant ultimately pled to a less favorable disposition than the original offers. (*Id.* at p. 1405.) The Court recognized that the context of the error was important when assessing prejudice, and held that where error involved a lost opportunity for a better plea offer, a defendant could demonstrate prejudice without stating that he would have gone to trial had he received correct advice. (Id. at p. 1409-1410.) This holding recognizes that, in the context of attorney errors made during the plea bargaining stage of a proceeding, a defendant may not have been limited to either accepting the disputed plea offer or going to trial, as the holding in *Hill* might suggest. As the *Frye* Court noted, "*Hill* does not. . . provide the *sole* means for demonstrating prejudice arising from the deficient performance of counsel during plea negotiations." (*Ibid.*; citing Hill v. Lockhart, supra, 474 U.S. at 59.)

This Court has long held that when challenging a plea based on misadvisement or omission of collateral consequences, a defendant must demonstrate that it is reasonably probable he would not have entered his

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