In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

RODRIGO MARTINEZ MARTINEZ,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S199495

SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 1 5 2012

Sixth Appellate District, Case No. H03668 Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Santa Clara County Superior Court, Case No. 156569 Deputy
The Honorable Marc Poché, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

appellant's claim that had he been aware of the immigration consequences, he would not have entered the plea. (CT 92.)

The Court of Appeal agreed with the trial court:

We agree with the trial court that the appellant's claim that he would have plead to a "greater offense," sale of unspecified controlled substance under Health and Safety Code section 11352, subdivision (a) is entirely speculative and it beggars the imagination to suppose that he would have had agreed to go to state prison for a term of three, four or five years had he known of the immigration consequences. The distinct problem with appellant's appeal is his inability to demonstrate prejudice. He says only that had he been aware of the immigration consequences of his plea, he would not have entered it and instead gone to jury trial. The jury trial would not have taken long. The observation of a hand to hand sale together with the money and the purchaser would not have offered any difficulty to a jury.

(Slip. Opn. at p. 2.)

2. The Court of Appeal Properly Assessed Prejudice

Appellant had the duty to demonstrate that, had different advice been given, he would have rejected his plea and proceeded to trial. (See *Lafler v. Cooper, supra*, 132 S.Ct. at p. 1384; *Resendiz, supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 253; *Alvernaz, supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 938.)

Given the record, the trial court did not abuse its discretion. Despite appellant's attempt to paint the prosecution case as "weak," the record shows the opposite. The undercover officer that witnessed the sale was only four feet away from appellant and Ryan when the drug transaction occurred. He saw Ryan hand appellant money and appellant hand him a brown bindle. The officer promptly detained Ryan, and found the brown bindle in his hand. (CT 7.) The bindle contained marijuana. (CT 7-8.) Appellant was a marijuana trafficker. Appellant was not arrested until an hour later; hence, the fact that he no longer possessed the money would not have reasonably been fatal to the prosecution. The arresting officer made a

positive identification of appellant as the seller. Given the strength of the prosecution case, it is unlikely that appellant would have exercised his right to jury trial. Had he done so, not only would he face the immigration consequences of a conviction, he faced the punishment of imprisonment.

Appellant has failed to establish any prejudice from the section 1016.5 nonadvisement. The Court of Appeal properly upheld the trial court's determination in denying appellant's motion to vacate his guilty plea.

B. Appellant Has Failed to Demonstrate the Likelihood of an Immigration-Neutral Disposition of His 1992 Offense

Appellant claims that—had he been properly advised—he would have obtained an immigration-neutral plea deal. However, he has failed to make the requisite showing. Appellant has provided no objective evidence concerning a prosecutorial willingness to offer him an immigration-neutral plea deal, the existence in 1992 of an immigration-neutral offense supported by the factual basis here that would conceal the true nature of his crime from the federal authorities, the likelihood of the court sustaining an immigration-neutral plea, any possible immigration-neutral outcome of a trial, or the likelihood that he would have opted for trial despite the overwhelming probability of conviction.

1. Appellant has failed to demonstrate that an immigration-neutral plea offer was available

Appellant's attempt to retroactively recalibrate the plea options available to him in 1992 must be rejected. His failure to demonstrate that an obviously immigration-neutral plea was available to him in 1992 illustrates the trouble with wading back into a 20-year-old plea negotiation.

Appellant is unable to demonstrate that an alternative immigrationneutral plea was, in fact, available to him. Appellant suggests that he could have sought to plead to sale of an unspecified controlled substance under Health and Safety Code section 11352, subdivision (a). (Opening Brief at pp. 29-31.) Citing *Ruiz-Vidal v. Gonzales* (9th Cir. 2007) 473 F.3d 1072, 1078, he claims that section refers generally to sale of controlled substances, and without specificity as to the controlled substance involved, it could not be shown that the controlled substance for which he entered the plea was a controlled substance as defined in the federal Controlled Substances Act (CSA) and therefore would not have rendered him deportable.

To support his contention, appellant cites recent Ninth Circuit cases (*Tokatly v. Ashcroft* (9th Cir. 2004) 371 F.3d 613; *Ruiz-Vidal v. Gonzales*, supra, 473 F.3d 1072) that he believes suggest that Health and Safety Code section 11352 may not be a deportable offense. (Opening Brief at pp. 29-30.) This falls far short of the type of showing appellant would have to make to show prejudice and obtain relief.

As an initial matter, it is not clear that a conviction of violating Health and Safety Code section 11352 would not render appellant deportable were federal authorities to scrutinize the record underlying his plea. (*Ruiz-Vidal v. Gonzales, supra*, 473 F.3d at p. 1072.) Appellant assumes that "[a]n immigration-neutral alternative plea was reasonably available" to him because he could have simply pleaded to a different crime that did not name a controlled substance defined in the CSA. (Opening Brief at p. 28.) However, he neglects to recognize that federal immigration courts are permitted to look beyond the elements of appellant's plea and review the facts underlying the conviction.

The methodology this circuit and others follow in order to determine whether a conviction constitutes a predicate offense for deportation purposes is well-established. When possible, we apply the "categorical" approach, "looking only to the statutory definition[] of the prior offense." [Citation.] However, when it is not clear from the statutory definition of the prior offense whether that offense constitutes a removable offense under section 237(a)(2)(E)(i), we apply a "modified" categorical

approach under which we may look beyond the language of the statute to a narrow, specified set of documents that are part of the record of conviction, including "the indictment, the judgment of conviction, jury instructions, a signed guilty plea, or the transcript from the plea proceedings." See *United States v. Rivera-Sanchez*, 247 F.3d 905, 908 (9th Cir. 2001) (en banc).

(Tokatly v. Ashcroft, supra, 371 F.3d at p. 620.)

In *Ruiz-Vidal*, the defendant pleaded to a nonspecified controlled substance offense. In determining whether this conviction rendered him deportable, the immigration judge ("IJ") questioned the government regarding which drug was involved in the underlying conviction and whether it was a controlled substance as defined in section 102 of the CSA. The IJ determined that the underlying substance was included within the ambit of section 102 of the CSA and ordered the defendant's removal. (473 F.3d at p. 1075.) The Ninth Circuit noted that it "may consider the charging documents in conjunction with the plea agreement, the transcript of a plea proceeding, or the judgment to determine whether the defendant pled guilty to the elements of the generic crime." (*Id.* at p. 1078.) The court had only the charging document and the abstract of judgment, neither of which it deemed sufficient in that case to identify the underlying substance. (*Id.* at p. 1079.)

The prosecutor here charged appellant with one count of transporting or selling marijuana in violation of Health and Safety Code section 11360, subdivision (a). (CT 23-24.) The information would have been available to federal immigration authorities reviewing whether appellant's alternative plea offense constituted a predicate offense for deportation purposes. Furthermore, information about the drug underlying the conviction would be available in appellant's plea proceedings, which appellant—at the time of his plea—had no reason to believe would not be permanently retained in the trial court record of conviction. In any event, if the trial court granted

appellant's section 1016.5 motion and allowed him to modify his plea to plead guilty to a violation of Health and Safety Code section 11352, that plea proceeding transcript would certainly be available to the federal immigration officials reviewing appellant's deportation proceedings. Whether appellant pleaded to Health and Safety Code section 11360 or Health and Safety Code section 11352, he could not have avoided a finding that his crime was marijuana trafficking and carried immigration consequences under a modified categorical approach.

Furthermore, appellant has failed to—and indeed lacks the ability to—demonstrate that he (or his counsel) would have known in 1992 that a California Health and Safety Code section 11352 conviction could potentially be a nondeportable offense, as he notes was suggested by the Ninth Circuit in 2004 and 2007.

2. Appellant has failed to demonstrate that the prosecutor would have made an immigration-neutral plea offer

Appellant has not "adduced any substantial evidence suggesting the prosecutor might ultimately have agreed to a plea that would have allowed [him] to avoid adverse immigration consequences." (*Resendiz*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 254.) While *Resendiz* was decided in a habeas context, appellant bore a similar burden of affirmatively demonstrating grounds for relief when he brought his Penal Code section 1016.5, subdivision (b) motion in the superior court. As previously discussed, the prosecutor's consent to make an alternative, immigration-neutral plea offer may not be compelled or presumed.

Appellant implies that the prosecutor would have agreed to an alternative plea deal if it resulted in a higher sentencing triad, while evading federal policy regarding marijuana traffickers. (Opening Brief at p. 29.) However, this is an unwarranted assumption. This Court has cautioned

against forcing the prosecution to reinstate even a plea offer that had already been made by the prosecution, because that "would be inconsistent with the legitimate exercise of the prosecutorial discretion involved in the negotiation and withdrawal of offered plea bargains." (Alvernaz, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 943.)

Indeed, here, the trial court found that it was "highly improbable such a bargain [without negative immigration consequences] would have been offered." (CT 92.) The record of the preliminary hearing shows that an undercover officer was standing four feet from appellant when he observed Ryan hand appellant money, and appellant hand Ryan a brown bindle. (CT 7.) Ryan was immediately stopped, at which time police recovered the bindle, which contained marijuana. (CT 7-8.) Appellant did not have the money with him when arrested an hour after the exchange. (CT 9.) At the time of arrest, the arresting officer recognized appellant as the seller. (CT 16.) Given the strength of the evidence, the prosecutor would not have been under any pressure to permit appellant to plead to a different offense.

Nor is there any basis to believe that the prosecutor would have been willing to accept a plea for an offense without an adequate factual basis—there was no question that appellant's offense involved marijuana. Section 11352, subdivision (a) specifically *excludes* marijuana. It applies to any controlled substance specified in subdivision (b), (c) or (e) or paragraph (1) of subdivision (f), or *paragraph* (14), (15), or (20) of subdivision (d) of section 11054 of the Health and Safety Code. Marijuana is listed in paragraph (13) of subdivision (d). It is not included in any of the other provisions specified in subdivision (a) of Health and Safety Code section 11352.

3. Appellant has failed to demonstrate that he would have accepted the alternative, immigration-neutral plea agreement

Appellant has not adduced independent, objective evidence—i.e., more than his self-serving statements in support of his motion—that he would have accepted an immigration-neutral alternative plea.

The analysis in *Alvernaz*, *supra*, is instructive. There, although the defendant stated in a declaration that in the absence of counsel's error he would have accepted the prosecution's offer, this Court found no independent corroboration of that claim. (2 Cal.4th at pp. 945-946.)

Alvernaz had been charged with one count of first degree robbery, two counts of second degree robbery, one count of first degree burglary, and one count of kidnapping for the purpose of robbery as well as personal use of firearm and prior conviction allegations. Based on his counsel's advice that his maximum exposure at trial would be eight years in prison, Alvernaz rejected an offer to plead guilty to one count of robbery with a four- or five-year maximum and opted for trial. He was convicted of all charges but the burglary charge, and the trial court imposed concurrent sentences, including life imprisonment with the possibility of parole. (*Alvernaz*, *supra*, 2 Cal.4th at pp. 929-930.) He subsequently represented that "had he known he faced prison confinement in excess of sixteen years, he would have accepted the plea offer." (*Id.* at p. 931.)

Finding that Alvernaz's statement was "insufficiently corroborated by independent, objective evidence," this Court found, instead, that "[t]he declarations of petitioner and his trial counsel . . . and the reasonable inferences drawn therefrom, establish that petitioner's decision to reject the plea offer was motivated primarily by a persistent, strong, and informed hope for exoneration at trial, and that any evaluation of precise sentencing

options was secondary in his thinking." (Alvernaz, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 945.)

In this context, appellant's self-serving statement that with section 1016.5 advisement he would have accepted a proffered immigration-neutral plea bargain, "is insufficient in and of itself to sustain the defendant's burden of proof as to prejudice, and must be corroborated independently by objective evidence. A contrary holding would lead to an unchecked flow of easily fabricated claims." (*Alvernaz*, *supra*, 2 Cal.4th at p. 938.)

A determination of the "reasonable probability" a defendant would have accepted or rejected the plea requires a look at "the disparity between the terms of the proposed plea bargain and the probable consequences of proceeding to trial, as viewed at the time of the offer." (Alvernaz, supra, 2 Cal.4th at p. 938, italics added.)

A defendant is not entitled to withdraw his plea merely because he discovers long after the plea has been accepted that his calculus misapprehended the quality of the State's case or the likely penalties attached to alternative courses of action. More particularly, absent misrepresentation or other impermissible conduct by state agents, a voluntary plea of guilty intelligently made in the light of the then applicable law does not become vulnerable because later judicial decisions indicate that the plea rested on a faulty premise. A plea of guilty triggered by the expectations of a competently counseled defendant that the State will have a strong case against him is not subject to later attack because the defendant's lawyer correctly advised him with respect to the then existing law as to possible penalties but later pronouncements of the courts, as in this case, hold that the maximum penalty for the crime in question was less than was reasonably assumed at the time the plea was entered.

(Brady v. United States (1970) 397 U.S. 742, 757.)

To the contrary, appellant never suggested below that he would have been willing to plead to a greater offense. (See CT 77-78 [appellant's reply to People's opposition to motion to vacate plea, stating the "lesser" charges to which he could have plead but containing no assertion that he would

have been willing to plea to a greater charge].) While appellant stated in his declaration he would have sought a plea bargain without the negative immigration consequences, he never asserted that would include pleading to a crime with a potentially greater penal consequence. Appellant's resort to this new "pleading up" theory for the first time on appeal, moreover, shows the perils of engaging in ever evolving speculation about what could have happened.

In any event, it is highly improbable that appellant would have been willing to plead to a crime with a greater potential penalty. Although imposition of sentence was suspended and appellant was granted probation, if he violated probation he would have faced a greater potential prison term had he pleaded guilty to a violation of Health and Safety Code section 11352. That offense would have exposed him to a prison term of 3, 4, or 5 years, while Health and Safety Code section 11360 exposed him to a prison term of 2, 3, or 4 years. Appellant assumes that the court would have granted probation, but it could have required appellant to serve a prison term.

4. Appellant has failed to demonstrate that the court would have approved the immigration-neutral plea agreement

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